IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 94,885

LARRY E. MANN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

JULIUS J. AULISIO CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813)740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 18, 1980, the grand jury of Pinellas County returned an indictment against Mr. Mann, charging him with the first degree murder and kidnapping of Elisa Nelson (S.S. Vol. I 3-4). Mr. Mann's first trial was held March 16-19, 1981. The jury found Mr. Mann guilty of first degree murder and kidnapping on March 19, 1981. On March 26, 1981, the trial court sentenced Mr. Mann to death, relying on the aggravating circumstances of prior violent felony, during the commission of a kidnapping, heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and cold, calculated, and premeditated (S.S. Vol. I 5-6).

On September 2, 1982, this Court affirmed the conviction but vacated Mr. Mann's death sentence and remanded Mr. Mann's case to the trial court for a new sentencing proceeding without a jury. <u>Mann v. State</u>, 420 So.2d 578, 581 (Fla. 1982).

On January 14, 1983, the trial court again sentenced Mr. Mann to death, and this Court affirmed that sentence in <u>Mann v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 784 (Fla. 1984), <u>cert. denied</u>, 469 U.S. 1181 (1985).

On January 7, 1986, Governor Graham signed a death warrant, and Mr. Mann's execution was scheduled for February 4, 1986. This Court affirmed the trial court's summary denial of post conviction relief and denied Mr. Mann's habeas petition. <u>Mann v. State</u>, 482 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1986).

On February 3, 1986, Federal District Court Judge Kovachevich granted Mr. Mann a stay of execution. The Eleventh Circuit then granted Mr. Mann a re-sentencing before a newly empaneled jury because the original jury, a co-sentencing entity, was improperly led to believe that the responsibility for determining the sentence rested with the trial court. <u>Mann v. Dugger</u>, 844 F.2d 1446 (11th Cir. 1988)(en banc), <u>cert. denied</u>, 109 S. Ct. 1353 (1989).

Mr. Mann's re-sentencing was held before a newly empaneled jury from January 29, 1990, through February 6, 1990 (S.S. Vol. VII-XVI 778-2093). Mr. Mann's counsel adopted the investigation and preparation of prior counsel and used the testimony of Dr. Carbonel to prove the mental illness of "pedophilia" was a mitigating circumstance (S.S. Vol. XIV 16003-1710).

While in deliberations, the jury asked the court seven questions:

1. Was there any proof of natural or unnatural sexual intercourse with Elisa Nelson?

2. Was there any proof of a sexual encounter by the autopsy of Elisa Nelson?

3. Has Larry Mann or his attorneys applied for a new trial on the guilt phase?

4. What type of discharge did the Air Force give Larry Mann?

5. Was the seven year old girl that Mr. Mann fondled ever examined by a medical doctor for being raped?

6. Was Dr. Whalen admitted as an expert witness in his field?

7. What is the definition of the word "extreme" as used in reference to under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance?

(S. S. Vol. XVI 2081-82). The court refused to answer questions one, two, three, four, and five, telling the jurors to rely on the evidence and testimony presented. In regard to question six, the court told the jurors that Dr. Whalen was given the same findings as Dr. Carbonel, Mr. Mann's expert witness. The court responded to question seven by replying, "with respect to the definition of 'extreme' you are asking the Court to give you , you have to rely on your own common sense and training and background and experience which you bring with you as jurors concerning that issue." (S.S. Vol. VI 670-677). The jury recommended a sentence of death (S.S. Vol. XVI 2088).

On March 2, 1990, Mr. Mann's sentencing hearing was held before Judge James R. Case. Judge Case did not orally state his findings of aggravation and mitigation, but he distributed copies of his already prepared sentencing order, sentencing Mr. Mann to death (S.S. Vol. XVII 2139-2140). Judge Case found aggravating circumstances of prior violent felony for a 1974 burglary conviction, during the commission of a felony, and especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (S.S. Vol. VI. 671-673). Judge Case rejected the statutory mitigating circumstances of extreme emotional disturbance and capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct (both evidenced by "pedophilia") because he

believed counsel did not prove that Mr. Mann was intoxicated at the time of the murder (S.S. Vol. VI 673-676). Judge Case did find non-statutory mitigating circumstances because Mr. Mann suffered from psychotic depression and rage against himself due to strong pedophilic urges, but Judge Case found that those mitigators could not outweigh the aggravators because he believed counsel did not prove Mr. Mann was intoxicated at the time of the murder. (S.S. Vol. VI 676). Judge Case stated he found other non-statutory mitigators: exemplary inmate, long history of drug and alcohol dependancy, great remorse (only after his first warrant was signed), developing and cultivating artistic talents, and maintaining relationships with friends and family during incarceration. However, Judge Case found those non-statutory mitigating factors to be "unremarkable", and in no way sufficient to out weigh the aggravating circumstances (S.S. Vol. VI 676-677).

This Court affirmed his sentence on appeal in <u>Mann v. State</u>, 603 So.2d 1141 (Fla. 1992).

Mr. Mann filed an Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence With Special Request for Leave to Amend on July 7, 1997. On February 26, 1998, and July 16, 1998, the circuit court held hearings pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993) (R. Vol. I 1-33, H. 1-49). On July 21, 1998, the circuit court denied Mr. Mann's Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence With Special Request for Leave to Amend and for Evidentiary Hearing which presented three additional claims for relief and was filed on April 17, 1998. In an Order rendered on July 28, 1998, the court denied all but three of Mr. Mann's claims for relief (R. Vol. III 538-550). The court granted an evidentiary hearing to determine whether Mr. Mann's counsel was ineffective for introducing the condition of pedophilia as a mitigating circumstance (R. Vol. III 549).

The evidentiary hearing was held on December 1, 1998. The defense presented Brian Donerly, an attorney with extensive experience in defending capital cases, as an expert witness at the evidentiary hearing. (R. Vol. IV 597-602) Over the State's objection, Mr. Donerly was allowed to testify at this hearing. (R. Vol. IV 605) Donerly had reviewed the two previous penalty phase trials involving Mr. Mann's case, reports and depositions from Dr. Fireman and Dr. Carbonel, and various orders and opinions issued in Mann's case. (R. Vol. IV 605) Donerly concluded that the decision to put on pedophilia as a mitigation was below the standard in the community and also that there is a reasonable probability that this ineffective representation affected the outcome. (R. Vol. IV 605) Mr. Donerly based his conclusion on both the prosecutor's use of pedophilia in his closing argument and the additional prejudicial facts and testimony the pedophilia testimony brought into the trial (R. Vol. IV 605, 609-615). Donerly was relating this to the death penalty community in 1990 at the time of Mr. Mann's penalty

phase which is the subject of attack in this 3.850 motion. (R. Vol. IV 606) The death penalty community Donerly refers to were the people involved in the Life Over Death seminars and Public Defender's Association. (R. Vol. IV 607) Donerly thought that the consensus in the death penalty community in 1990 was that the mitigation of pedophilia would have been a major negative. (R. Vol. IV 606)

In 1990 it was fairly common to drop mental health testimony out of the penalty phase presentation if you had otherwise a reasonable second phase. (R. Vol. IV 609) Mr. Donnerly stated:

"The defense made very little mention of it and mostly defensive and to the State he was red meat that was spread throughout the State's final argument. And it wasn't just Dr. Carbonel, but the various things that Dr. Carbonel opened up. The State's expert, the molestation of the seven-year-old when Mr. Mann was 16 also gave them a more interesting spin on the prior rape because of the victims. In that case the victim was of small stature and they were able to tie that into the obviously small stature of the victim in this case."

(R. Vol. IV 615). Mr. Donnerly also concluded that Dr. Carbonel's testimony concerning Mr. Mann's alcoholism was the only valuable evidence she offered. However, Mr. Donnerly stated, the alcoholism testimony "wasn't worth everything else that came in with it. The long-term alcohol abuse could have come in through lay witnesses and you could have left all the psychological testimony at home and gotten

virtually, gotten what little benefit came from Dr. Carbonel's testimony without the pain that came with it" (R. Vol. IV 610)

Donerly said that defense counsel should not have put Dr. Carbonel on to testify at the penalty phase. (R. Vol. IV 611) Donerly indicated that the defense final argument touched very little on the pedophilia in contrast to the State's argument where that issue was the major focus. (R. Vol. IV 611-615) The State's final argument referred to Mann's deviant sexual desire, sexual perversion, and molestation of a six year old when Mann was 16, which otherwise would not have come in because it was not a formal conviction. (R. Vol. IV 612) The State's final argument went on to say it was appalling that the defense would suggest that "because this man is a child molester and pervert that his actions were somehow more excusable than the person who is not a child molester and pervert". (R. Vol. IV 612, 613) The State put on an expert witness who said that child molesters teach themselves to be sexually aroused by children. (R. Vol. IV 613) This testimony would not have been presented had defense counsel not called Dr. Carbonel. (R. Vol. IV 613) The State's argument went on to suggest that there are no disciplinary reports on death row only because there are no children there. (R. Vol. IV 613) Donerly presented this to show that the State, and not the defense, received the most benefit from Dr. Carbonel's testimony. (R. Vol. IV 614)

Donerly was of the opinion that putting on the pedophilia testimony substantially decreased Mr. Mann's chance of getting a life recommendation. (R. Vol. IV 615) This was evidenced by the questions the jury asked the court regarding sexual activity. (R. Vol. IV 615) In spite of this three jurors voted for life. Donerly indicated because of all these factors and the fact that Mr. Mann only needed three more votes for life, there was at least a reasonable probability of a different result if defense counsel had not used the tactic of presenting pedophilia evidence. (R. Vol. IV 615, 616)

Dr. Cabonel did not have to testify for defense counsel to present the mitigating alcohol addiction evidence because that could have been presented by friends and relatives. (R. Vol. IV 616) The State made the defense mitigation into one of its most potent aggravating circumstances. Without Dr. Carbonel's testimony, the state would have changed the focus of their argument . (R. Vol. IV 618) Donerly said he has never seen a case with as much mitigation regarding moral and intellectual blossoming in prison. (R. Vol. IV 619) While in prison Mr. Mann learned to read the New Testament in the original Greek and engaged in extensive correspondence with a bible study group. (R. Vol. IV 628-631) Nor has Donerly ever seen a case where the defense presented pedophilia as a mitigation circumstance. (R. Vol. IV 619)

On cross examination, the prosecutor asked Donerly if Dr. Carbonel had not testified, would the state be allowed to present testimony of sexual molestation being the

motive for the kidnapping. (R. Vol. IV 634) Donerly felt that if the State had been allowed to do that the case would have been reversed on appeal. (R. Vol. IV 634) Any attempt by the state to introduce sexual molestation evidence through Sister Pastva, to whom Mann wrote numerous letters would be objectionable under 403. (R. Vol. IV 638) Donerly could not say there is caselaw that would definitively say one way or the other that the State would not be able to present Mr. Mann's sexual motives into evidence. (R. Vol. IV 651) However, Donerly felt that 403 would have kept the pedophilia aspect out of evidence. (R. Vol. IV 652) Mr. Donerly was the only witness called by the defense. (R. Vol. IV 660)

The State called David Parry, who was Mr. Mann's defense attorney at the second sentencing phase. (R. Vol. IV 660, 661) At the time Mr. Parry represented Mr. Mann, he had been practicing law for six years. (R. Vol. IV 662) Parry became involved in capital cases in 1987 and started going to Life Over Death seminars. (R. Vol. IV 662) Mr. Mann's case was the sixth capital case on which Mr. Parry had worked. (R. Vol. IV 662) It was the third or fourth case where there was actually a penalty phase. (R. Vol. IV 663, 689) Parry thought this was his co-counsel's second penalty phase. (R. Vol. IV 689) At the time of the evidentiary hearing, Parry had done 12 to 14 penalty phases. (R. Vol. IV 664, 689) Mr. Mann is the only case that Mr. Parry has worked on that resulted in a death

sentence. (R. Vol. IV 664) Over objection, the trial court allowed Mr. Parry to testify as an expert in penalty phase litigation. (R. Vol. IV 665, 666)

Parry prepared for the penalty phase by reading the first trial and depositions, speaking to witnesses, reading the transcript of the Mississippi conviction, consulting with other attorneys and his other normal preparation. (R. Vol. IV 667, 668) Dr. Carbonel had been hired by CCR prior to the time Parry took over the case. (R. Vol. IV 671) Parry had not used many doctors that have already been used previously in a case for personal reasons. (R. Vol. IV 670) Ihough Parry was not familiar with Dr. Carbonel, Parry and Nora McClure, his co-counsel, decided to use Dr. Carbonel because they felt she was qualified and seemed to be very thorough. (R. Vol. IV 671) Parry said that putting on mental mitigation was a strategy decision. (R. Vol. IV 673) Parry was aware that prior examinations showed Mr. Mann did not have brain damage. (R. Vol. IV 674) Parry could have had someone else evaluate Mr. Mann, but failed to do so. (R. Vol. IV 694)

Parry guessed the possibility that the crime was sexually motivated would come out in this case, although he thought maybe certain things the court would not have let in. (R. Vol. IV 677) Parry was aware of the stigma of pedophilia at the time of the resentencing trial in 1990 and he knew that if Dr. Carbonel testified they would have to call Mr. Mann a pedophile. (R. Vol. IV 694) Parry indicated that he thought the state would not be allowed to take his mitigator of pedophilia and turn it around to be an aggravator, but he guessed he was wrong about the law since that is what they did. (R. Vol. IV 695) Parry said there was not other evidence that could have been presented regarding the term pedophilia. (R. Vol. IV 696) Parry agreed that he could have filed a motion in limine to keep out any testimony regarding pedophilia had he not called Dr. Carbonel as a witness. (R. Vol. IV 697) Parry said he called Dr. Carbonel to present strong statutory mitigating factors and to explain why Mr. Mann acted the way he did in 1981. (R. Vol. IV 698)

Parry indicated that experienced capital lawyers would be split on whether mental mitigation should be presented to a jury. (R. Vol. IV 680) Parry presented alcohol abuse and remorse to the jury through the testimony of Dr. Carbonel. (R. Vol. IV 681) Parry said he tried to do the best job he could on Mr. Mann's case. (R. Vol. IV 683) Parry indicated that the witness from the prior violent felony was a very difficult witness to deal with and her testimony was devastating. (R. Vol. IV 685) Parry agreed that a main focus of the penalty phase was how much Mr. Mann had changed while he was in prison focusing on his religious conversion, artistic talents, teaching himself a new language and how he related to other inmates.. (R. Vol. IV 690, 691)

Judge Case found that Mr. Mann's re-sentencing counsel was effective. (R. Vol. III 539-40).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Mann proved at the evidentiary hearing that he received ineffective assistance of counsel at his 1990 penalty phase proceeding because counsel's decision to present evidence of pedophilia as a mitigating circumstance was ineffective assistance of counsel.

2. The Circuit Court erred by not granting an evidentiary hearing so Mr. Mann could prove counsel ineffectively failed to investigate and offer testimony of an expert in the field of the effects of substance abuse, counsel ineffectively failed to investigate the possibility of organic brain damage as a mitigating factor, counsel ineffectively failed to challenge the 1974 Mississippi conviction that was used as an aggravating factor, counsel ineffectively cross examined Fred Daniels, counsel ineffectively failed to document and preserve for appeal the prejudicial commotion caused by victim rights advocates during Mr. Mann's trial, counsel ineffectively failed to object to the prosecutor's improper and highly prejudicial appeals to the juror's fears, and counsel ineffectively failed to object to improper jury instructions.

3. The Circuit Court erred when it did not grant an evidentiary hearing so Mr. Mann could prove the prosecutor's misconduct and defense counsel's ineffective failure to object and move for a mistrial violated Mr. Mann's Sixth and Eighth Amendment Rights. 4. The prosecutor introduced non-statutory aggravating circumstances which the jury weighed when deciding whether Larry Mann should live or die. This resulted in fundamental error, and the trial court erred when it did not grant an evidentiary hearing so Mr. Mann could establish this.

5. Mr. Mann was denied a reliable sentencing because the trial court refused to find statutory mitigating circumstances which were established by the evidence. The trial court erred when it did not grant an evidentiary hearing on this issue.

6. The trial court erred when it did not grant an evidentiary hearing so Mr. Mann could establish that Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar is unconstitutional.

7. The trial court erred when refused to grant an evidentiary hearing so Mr. Mann could establish Florida Statute 921.141(5) is unconstitutionally facially vague and overbroad because the jury did not receive proper guidance, and in fact received improper instructions.

8. Mr. Mann did not receive competent assistance because the mental health expert who examined Mr. Mann was not qualified to effectively diagnose his mental problems. The trial court refused to grant an evidentiary hearing on this issue, and this refusal was error.

14

9. The trial court erred in refusing to grant an evidentiary hearing so Mr. Mann could prove a state witness comment on Mr. Mann's exercise of his right to remain silent violated his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights and Florida Constitution Article I, Section O rights.

10. The circuit court erred when it did not grant an evidentiary hearing so Mr.

Mann could establish that the combination of procedural and substantive errors in Mr.

Mann's 1990 penalty phase violated his rights to a fair trial under the Sixth, Eighth, and

Fourteenth Amendments.

ARGUMENT I

THE CIRCUIT JUDGE ERRED IN FINDING THAT MR. MANN'S COUNSEL WAS EFFECTIVE UNDER SIXTH EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT STANDARDS. MR. MANN'S COUNSEL FAILED TO INDEPENDENTLY INVESTIGATE AND PREPARE MITIGATING FACTORS, AND INSTEAD, ADOPTED PRIOR COUNSEL'S STRATEGY AND TESTIMONY. OFFERING PEDOPHILIA AS A MITIGATING FACTOR TO JURORS WAS UNREASONABLE BECAUSE COUNSEL KNEW SUCH TESTIMONY WAS INEFFECTIVE IN MR. MANN'S FIRST SENTENCING, AND COUNSEL ANTICIPATED THAT THE STATE WOULD USE IT TO MR. MANN'S DISADVANTAGE.

In his Final Order Denying Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments Of Conviction

And Sentence, Judge Case held:

Neither the defense attorneys performance in general nor their adoption of the strategy to present mental mitigation including pedophilia falls below the applicable standards of <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Counsel's strategy was reasonably effective based on the totality of the circumstances. <u>Songer</u>.

Even if the first prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test had been met, there is no reasonable likelihood, in light of the aggravating factors proved by the state, that the result of the proceedings would have been different had the evidence been withheld from the jury. The prejudice requirement of the <u>Strickland</u> standard has not been met.

(R. Vol. III 539-40). This finding is clearly erroneous in light of the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing.

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