IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LARRY EUGENE MANN,

Appellant,

vs.

2

CASE NO. 94,885

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

CORRECTED ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0503843 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In light of the testimony of substance abuse that was presented to the sentencing jury, and the inconsistency between such testimony and the defense penalty phase theory, no evidentiary

hearing was warranted on this allegation. The summary denial of relief was proper.

2. Failure to investigate brain damage

Mann also asserts that counsel were ineffective for failing to explore the possibility of brain damage. Once again, Mann is not challenging a particular failure as much as he is challenging the way that brain damage was explored. That is, Mann is attacking his attorneys' choice of experts rather than identifying an avenue of investigation which counsel failed to pursue. In fact, Mann was examined by a number of mental health experts prior to trial as well as prior to his resentencing, and none of these examinations revealed any indications of brain damage (RS-R. Vol. 14/1614, 1615, 1657, 1698; PC-R. Vol. 1/59-61, 68-69; Vol. 2/344-53; Vol. 4/674). To this day, Mann has not identified any potential expert or any diagnosis of brain damage which would provide any mitigation above and beyond that provided by Dr. Carbonell.

Dr. Carbonell's expertise and qualifications were well established at the resentencing hearing (RS-R. Vol. 14/1603-09). Although he faults counsel for failing to secure CAT or PET scans or to hire yet another expert, he does not allege that any of this would have resulted in a finding of brain damage. Thus, his claim was insufficient to warrant an evidentiary hearing, and summary denial was again proper.

3. Failure to challenge prior (Mississippi) conviction

Mann next challenges his attorneys' failure to do something which the law would not permit them to do. Specifically, he claims that his attorneys should have attacked the reliability of his prior violent felony conviction for burglary in Mississippi by cross examining his victim regarding her identification of Mann as the perpetrator of the offense. However, in <u>Finney v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1995), this Court held that a defense attorney cannot go behind the validity of the prior conviction in the manner suggested herein.

Counsel at penalty phase objected to the State's use of the Mississippi conviction, claiming that the conviction was obtained in violation of Mann's constitutional rights (RS-R. Vol. 11/1394). Unless the Mississippi conviction had been vacated by a Mississippi court, there is little else that counsel could have done. Of course, Mann has never alleged that any court has found his prior conviction to have been improperly obtained. Dr. Carbonell noted at the resentencing hearing that Mann admitted all prior accusations of criminal behavior, except for the Mississippi rape (RS-R. Vol. 14/1697). His continued denial of that offense is essentially all that he has offered in support of this claim. On these facts, summary denial of this allegation was mandated by law. See, <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 541 So. 2d 1143, 1146 (Fla. 1989).

4. Failure to cross examine Fred Daniels

Mann's next complaint concerns the cross examination of State witness Fred Daniels, a neighbor of Mann's that testified at trial that Mann did not appear to be intoxicated on the morning he killed Elisa. Mann speculates that, had Daniels been pressed, he may have admitted that he did not really know if Mann had been intoxicated or not. Such speculation does not compel an evidentiary hearing. Clearly, Daniels was cross examined about his familiarity with Mann's drinking habits (RS-R. Vol. 15/1896-1905). More importantly, however, Daniels was not the only witness to rebut Mann's allegation of intoxication. See, Mann, 603 So. 2d at 1142. Therefore, this claim was also properly summarily denied.

5. Failure to document actions by victim's rights organization

Mann also speculates that possible improprieties by a victim's rights organization may have influenced the jury, but once again no specific facts are offered to demonstrate any possible constitutional error. Neither the alleged improprieties nor the improper influence are even generally identified. In fact, when asked at the <u>Huff</u> hearing, counsel for Mann could not specify particularly what should have been documented or why; she merely reminded the court that she had inherited the motion as written and could not speak beyond the allegations presented in the motion (PC-R. Supp. Vol. 3/123-125).

Moreover, because the allegations of this claim are taken entirely from the record on appeal, it could have been presented in Mann's direct appeal. Once again, summary denial was warranted.

Failure to object to prosecutor's suggestion that Mann could be released on parole

identify any Mann has failed to impropriety in the prosecutor's comments Mann's eligibility for on parole. Eligibility for parole has consistently been recognized as a relevant sentencing factor, and the defense in this case repeatedly presented evidence that Mann did not expect or desire to ever be released from prison (RS-R. Vol. 13/1575-77, 1585-90; Vol. 14/1632, 1738). The prosecutor's comment was not a misstatement of fact or law. Since the comment was proper rebuttal to mitigation offered by the defense, trial counsel's failure to object presented no basis for an evidentiary hearing.

7. Failure to object to improper jury instructions

Mann's last claim of ineffective counsel attacks his attorneys' failure to adequately challenge the jury instructions regarding his prior violent felony conviction. In Mann's direct appeal, this Court held that there was no error presented in the trial court's instruction that Mann's prior burglary was a violent offense. <u>Mann</u>, 603 So. 2d at 1143. Since no error occurred, the claim that counsel should have objected is without merit. Summary

denial of this claim was proper.

In conclusion, Mann has failed to demonstrate any error in the trial court's summary rejection of these allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. No evidentiary hearing, or any other relief, is warranted on the claims presented in this issue.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING CLAIMS OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

Mann next presents a claim which could have been, and in fact, was raised on direct appeal. Although the court below clearly found Mann's argument of prosecutorial misconduct to be procedurally barred, Mann has not even attempted to identify any error in that ruling. Instead, Mann merely presents his claim, without mentioning that it was previously rejected by this Court in his direct appeal.

The lower court's finding of a procedural bar was proper. <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 707 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1998); <u>Haliburton v. State</u>, 691 So. 2d 466, 472 (Fla. 1997). To the extent Mann is challenging comments included in the prosecutor's closing argument, this issue was litigated and rejected in his direct appeal. <u>Mann</u>, 603 So. 2d at 1143. See, <u>Engle v. Dugger</u>, 576 So. 2d 696, 699 (Fla. 1991) ("This claim is procedurally barred because it was rejected in the appeal from Engle's resentencing"). His suggestion of misconduct in other portions of the proceedings relies on the trial transcript, and therefore must have been raised on direct appeal. <u>Kelley v. State</u>, 569 So. 2d 754, 756 (Fla. 1990); <u>Jennings v.</u> <u>State</u>, 583 So. 2d 316, 322 (Fla. 1991).

Mann's attempt to recast the claim as one of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot revive the barred issue. <u>Robinson;</u> <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 695 So. 2d 263, 265 (Fla. 1996). In

addition, as this Court previously found, the prosecutor's references to Mann as a child molester and pervert were fair comments on the evidence, and did not constitute improper argument. <u>Mann</u>, 603 So. 2d at 1143. No relief is warranted on this issue.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MANN'S CLAIM REGARDING THE TRIAL COURT'S ALLEGED CONSIDERATION OF NONSTATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

Mann's claim that the trial court improperly considered nonstatutory aggravating circumstances is similarly procedurally barred. <u>Rutherford</u>, 727 So. 2d at 218, n.2 (Fla. 1998). Mann's characterization of this issue as involving fundamental error which must be considered due to the special scope of review in capital cases is not compelling; merely invoking the label "fundamental error" cannot be used as a means of thwarting our well established procedural rules.

It has long been the law in this state that claims which could have or should have been raised on direct appeal are not cognizable in a motion to vacate filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. <u>Ziegler v. State</u>, 654 So. 2d 1162, 1164 (Fla. 1995); <u>Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger</u>, 636 So. 2d 1321, 1323 (Fla. 1994); <u>Raulerson v. State</u>, 420 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1982); <u>Christopher v. State</u>, 416 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1982); <u>Meeks v. State</u>, 382 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 1980). It is also not appropriate to use a different argument to relitigate the same issue. <u>Harvey v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995); <u>Torres-Arboleda</u>, 636 So. 2d at 1323; <u>Medina v. State</u>, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990). The purpose of Rule 3.850 is to provide a means of addressing alleged constitutional errors in a judgment or sentence, not to review errors which are

cognizable on direct appeal. <u>McCrae v. State</u>, 437 So. 2d 1388 (Fla. 1983). Since Mann's allegation of nonstatutory aggravating factors is predicated on the transcript of his trial proceedings, it must have been raised on direct appeal. <u>Kelley</u>, 569 So. 2d at 756; <u>Jennings</u>, 583 So. 2d at 322. His failure to present the issue at the appropriate time procedurally bars consideration of this claim.

<u>ISSUE V</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MANN'S CLAIM REGARDING THE TRIAL COURT'S ALLEGED FAILURE TO CONSIDER MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

As his next claim, Mann contends that the trial court failed to properly consider and find mitigating factors allegedly established by the evidence. This claim must be raised on direct appeal. <u>Harvey</u>, 656 So. 2d at 1256; <u>Engle</u>, 576 So. 2d 702. Therefore, this claim is procedurally barred, and Mann cannot obtain collateral relief on this point. <u>Engle</u>, 576 So. 2d at 699.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING MANN'S CLAIM REGARDING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF RULES REGULATING JUROR INTERVIEWS.

Mann's next challenge disputes the constitutionality of Florida rules limiting an attorney's right to interview jurors after the conclusion of a trial. As usual, Mann's counsel fails to acknowledge or attempt to distinguish case law directly on point rejecting his claim. In <u>Young v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S277, n. 5 (Fla. June 10, 1999), this Court expressly found this to be a direct appeal issue, procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings. See also, <u>Ragsdale v. State</u>, 720 So. 2d 203, 205 (Fla. 1998).

Even if not barred, the claim should be denied as meritless. The United States Supreme Court has held that "long-recognized and very substantial concerns" justify protecting jury deliberations from intrusive inquiry. <u>Tanner v. United States</u>, 483 U.S. 107, 127 (1986). Federal courts have consistently upheld the federal restrictions on post-trial juror interviews against constitutional challenges. See, <u>United States v. Hooshmand</u>, 931 F.2d 725, 736-737 (11th Cir. 1991); <u>United States v. Griek</u>, 920 F.2d 840, 842-844 (11th Cir. 1991). The reasoning of those cases applies equally well to Florida's rule restricting juror contact when considered in light of Florida's constitutional right of access to the courts, and demonstrates that Mann is not entitled to relief on this issue.

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MANN'S CLAIM REGARDING THE FACIAL CONSTITUTIONALITY OF FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE AND THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN IN THIS CASE.

Mann's next claim, a challenge to the facial validity of the death penalty statute, clearly should have been raised on direct appeal. It must be summarily denied as procedurally barred. Jennings, 583 So. 2d at 322. In addition, claims relating to jury instructions are consistently rejected in collateral proceedings as they should be raised both at trial and on direct appeal. See, Johnston v. Dugger, 583 So. 2d 657, 662-663, n. 2 (Fla. 1991); Gorham v. State, 521 So. 2d 1067, 1070 (Fla. 1988) ("Because a claim of error regarding the instructions given by the trial court should have been raised on direct appeal, the issue is not cognizable through collateral attack"). No relief is warranted.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MANN'S CLAIM ALLEGING INADEQUATE MENTAL HEALTH ASSISTANCE.

Mann's next claim was presented as Claim XII in his postconviction motion; as presented in the motion, the claim was properly subject to summary denial because it failed to offer any factual support (PC-R. Supp. Vol. 2/91-97). Although, on appeal, Mann has at least added specific facts regarding Dr. Carbonell's involvement in his case, the facts which he has added² are refuted by the transcript from Mann's resentencing.

Mann's appellate brief contends that Dr. Carbonell was not a substance abuse expert, did not conduct an appropriate examination, and did not investigate Mann's history of drug abuse or test for brain damage. However, at the resentencing, Carbonell's expertise and qualifications were well defined. She testified that she was a clinical psychologist, focusing on the application of psychology to criminal justice (RS-R. Vol. 14/1603-05). She was the director of a community clinic at Florida State University, supervisor of the crisis management unit (RS-R. Vol. 14/1605). She taught

²The State objects to Mann's reliance on facts which were not offered to the court below during the postconviction proceeding. A defendant may not present a vague claim of constitutional error to the trial court, and then factually expound on the claim after it is summarily denied. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 expressly requires the recitation of specific facts in a postconviction motion; it is clearly improper for a defendant to save the factual support for a claim until the appeal from the summary denial of the issue is heard.

graduate neuropsychology and had taught and practiced forensic psychology (RS-R. Vol. 14/1605, 1608).

Carbonell reviewed a great deal of background information in addition to her interview and evaluation of Mann (RS-R. Vol. 14/1610-15, 1621, 1657, 1698). She conducted a complete evaluation, and included a neuropsychological examination due to his history of substance abuse and head injuries (RS-R. Vol. 14/1614-15). However, the neuropsychological testing did not reveal any brain damage; she looked for damage, but did not find anything significant (RS-R. Vol. 14/1614). Her conclusions with regard to the absence of brain damage was consistent with a number of other mental health professionals that had examined Mann (RS-R. Vol. 14/1615, 1667, 1698; PC-R. Vol. 1/59-61, 68-69; Vol. 4/674).

Even as bolstered with the addition of new facts, Mann's claim on this issue cannot withstand summary denial. In order to obtain an evidentiary hearing on a claim of this nature, a defendant must identify specific deficiencies in the mental health assistance that was provided and allege evidence that he is prepared to present in order to prove his claim. <u>Jackson v. Dugger</u>, 633 So. 2d 1051, 1054 (Fla. 1993); <u>Engle</u>, 576 So. 2d at 702. Mann does not allege that he has brain damage or that any mental health professional has ever diagnosed him with brain damage. Once again, no relief is warranted as the court below properly summarily rejected this claim.

ISSUE IX

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MANN'S CLAIM REGARDING A WITNESS COMMENT WHICH ALLEGEDLY VIOLATED HIS RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.

This claim is again procedurally barred, since Mann relies on a comment reflected in his trial transcript for this allegation of constitutional error. In fact, Mann claimed that there was an impermissible comment on his right to remain silent as part of his appeal from his resentencing, and this Court found that, even assuming the comment was improper, any error was clearly harmless. <u>Mann</u>, 603 So. 2d at 1143. The United States Supreme Court declined to review the opinion as to this issue. The previous rejection of this issue bars consideration of this claim at this time. <u>Engle</u>, 576 So. 2d at 699. Furthermore, no relief is warranted for the same reasons given in the initial rejection of the issue.

ISSUE X

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MANN'S CLAIM OF CUMULATIVE ERROR.

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